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DESCRIBE THE PRESENT AND ORIGINAL {IF KNOWN) PHYSICAL APPEARANCE

The Athenaeum is "the temple-form example of the Greek Revival style in Alexandria ...
the order is the simp]est of classical orders, the Doric, the tetrastyle portico of
unfluted columns is so severe that it reminds one more of the late archaic temples

at Paestum near Naples, than of Athens. The stucco, like that of the Lyceum
(Alexandria Bicentennial Center) 1is scored to resemble ashlar. At the Athenaeum,
however, the many coats of paint have obscured the masonry effect. The interior
consists of one large well-proportioned room with a coved ceiling as well as two

small offices at the rear." 1 There are soven 1. 'ge double-hung twelve-paned .

sashes, and the large double entrance door appears to have been gralned dark oak or
mahogany. This building remains unaltered, preserved in its main architectural
features. The exterior of the building has been painted and restored to its original
color in accordance with the advice of the preservation expert Henry A. Judd of the }
National Park Service.. Arrangements were made through-am offieial of the Mational '
Varnish and:Lacquer Association to have the paint made up to the specifications

of Mr. Judd.

There are three rcoms on the main floor, the largest room is 41 x 29 feet, the other
rooms are 18 x 13 feet and 10 x 13 feet. A stairway to the basement is in the smaller
room. There is an iron circular stairway at the front and to one side of the
entrance. There are five rooms in the basement and an old walled-in bank vault

and two toilets. There is an outside entrance at the rear of the basement with 4-5
steps up to an enclosed courtyard. There is a paved side yard about 8 feet wide
between the building and the adjacent property.

A clue to the fine workmanship in construction of the building appeared in the
Alexandria Gazette, April 3, 1852: "The interior of the Bank of the 0Td Dominion,
which is now nearly finished, will present a very handsome appearance, corresponding
to its exterior architecture. The carpenter's work by B. H. Jenkins - E. Francis,
bricklayer.® '

. The site is‘part of Lot 57 1in the original plan of the town as drawn by George : l
Washington "A Plan of Alexandria now Belhaven”. William Fairfax was the first owner
of 1ot 57, the quarter block that includes the northwest corner of Prince and Water
{now Lee) Streets. Next owner was Robert Adam, to whom George William Fairfax,

heir of William Fairfax, conveyed it on November 5, 1771.

On August 12, 1786, John Harper "recites" that on September 16, 1782, he granted

to William Lyles, Jr , @ lot fronting 40 feet on the north side of Prince Street

and 88 feet on the west side of Water (Lee) Street. Harper releases Lyles from a
stipulation in the 1782 deed that Lyles build a two-story brick house to extend

at least 20 feet on Prince Street,and gives permission for Lyles to erect "a

Frame house of larger dimensions than the brick house, with a brick or stone chimney
thereto.” Alexandria Deed Book B (Hustings Court) p. 364.

On November 5, 1785 William Lyles conveyed the property to Jahn Murray 3% QObediah
Bowen of Fa1rfax County and John Munford of the City of Mew York. Alexandria Deed
Book B (Hustings Court) p. 366.

(See Continuation Sheet #2)
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STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE

The significance of the Athenaeum is primarily that it is a fine example of Classic

Revival architaecture, one of only two in the City of Alexandria.

The building

stands today unaltered and in a good state of preservation due in part to the fact

that it has had continuous ownership and uses, -except for .a few pericds.

It has

played a significant role in the history of Alexandria, espaciatiy as a port city.

The bank of the 0ld Dominion was incorporated in 1851 and immediately started con-

struction of the building and began transacting business May 8, 1852.

The Bank was

the source of capital and financing of various businesses being strategically situated
at the head of “Captain's Row", a block of 18th-century houses beginning at the

waterfront.

After the occupation of Alexandria by the Union forces, the Bank closed on May 10,

[ 1862, !
during the war.

"The shrewdness of its cashier, William Henry lambert, kept the bank solvent
When the Northern troops began to invade the city, Lambert
buried the assets of the bank in a hidden grave until peace was declared.

Thus the

bank was able not only to redeem all of its circulation after the war, but to pay
a dividend to its stockholders." (Robert G. Whitton,"Banking in Alexandria".)

A rapid exparsion of the port facilities followed the entry of the Federal troops,

May 27, 1861.

The records of the Treasury Department and the U.S. Army Corps of

Enginears show a massive building program and frenzied activity along the dock area and

Prince St. as a base of supplies and material for the Army of the Potomac.

The

Athenaeum was made a part of the war activity after the cTosing of the Bank.

From 1907-25 Leadbeaters & Sons, one of the oldest of Alexandria firms,utilized
the building in addition to other nearby warehouses for their wholesale drug
business as shown 1n Alex J. Wedderburn Sesquicentennial Souvenir of Alexandria,

Va. 1909,

They handled half of the drugs sold in Washington and northern

counties of Maryland and nearly all of the Virginia trade with a radius of 100 miles.
In 1925 the Free Methodist Church of North America used the building as their house

of worshin.
of Maryland-Virginia.

They were the first society of that faith to be formed in the region

Architechurally, the temle-form structure serves 2a an important focal point for

Alexardria's prestiglous lower Princs Street.

The handsom but compact structure survives

as a rare example of architecturally distinguished commercial building of the antebellum

period,
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7. Description {con't)

Pagza

On August 17, 1786, donn Hurray, Obediah Bowen and John Munford conve
a part of the lot Yo Louis Deblois and Edward K. Th iompson.  Alexandria
Deed Dook B. {(iustings Court} The deed provides that Debleis and
Tﬁf?psan can "join any buildings which they may erect upon the premises
to the house erected by Murray, Munford and Bowen, also agrees to lay
outi an alley 4 feel wide beginning on Nater 60 feet north of Prince

extending west parallel with Price Street A0 feet, for free and cormon uselM

d

YEe
.i

On Qctober 25, 1830, John D. Reese conveyed the property to Josiah H. Davis.
Alexanuria Deed Book 0 No. 2 foljo 13.

On July 24, 1851 Josian H. Davis and his wife, Sarah W. Davis conveyed to the Bank of
the 01d Dominion the corner lot of ground fronting on the north side of

Prince Street and on the west side of YWater (now lee] Street. Alexendria

Dezed Book M3 page 619, O

On Septemher 16, 1870, the Tot and properties were conveyed hy the Bank of the
Ola Dominion to The Citizens National Bank of Alexandria. Alexandria
Deed Book 1 page 238. |

On May 9, 1997, the Citizens National Bank of Alexandria sold the proparty
to Clarence [. Leadbeater, Edward S. Leadbeater. Alexandria Deed Pook
5E page 32. '

.On Aoril 25, 1925,Clarence C. Lradbeater, Lillian M. Leadbeater (widow
¢f John and sole devisee of John lLeadheater) sold the property

to the Free Methodist Church of North America. Alexandria Deed Book 82
page 557.

On April 15, 1964, the Free Methodist Church of NNorth America sold the
- property to the Northern Virginia Fine Arts Association, an atiiliate of
the Virginia Museum of Fine Arts. Alexandria Deed Book 532 page 51.

rogtnote

1 Danys Peter Meyers, " A Town in Transition Alexandria 1977",
Alexandria Bicentennial ho|lwteior, AMexandrie Historical Assoc.
p. 156-159.
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